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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
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HASIM A. MOHAMMED, on behalf of Case No. CV
himself, all others similarly situated
NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF DEFENDANT
Plaintiff, AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC.
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TO THE HONORABLE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA AND TO PLAINTIFF HASIM A.
MOHAMMED AND PLAINTIFF’S ATTORNEYS OF RECORD:

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1332(d), 1441(1) and 1446, Defendant American Airlines, Inc.
(“American”) hereby files this Notice of Removal, removing this action brought by Plaintiff
Hasim A. Mohammed (“Plaintiff”) from the Superior Court of the State of California, County of
Santa Clara, where the action is currently pending, to this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1332(d),
as amended by the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005. American states the following grounds for

removal:

PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND TIMELINESS OF REMOVAL

1. On February 21, 2019, American received a Summons and Complaint that had
been filed on February 19, 2019, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto collectively
as Exhibit A. The action was brought as a putative class action in the Superior Court of the State
of California, County of Santa Clara, styled and captioned exactly as above, and assigned Case
No. 19CV342788. On March 22, 2019, American filed an Answer to the Complaint in the
Superior Court of the State of California, County of Santa Clara, a copy of which is attached
hereto as Exhibit B. No other process, pleadings or orders have been filed and served in this
action, and no other defendant has been named or served.

2. The Complaint asserts six causes of action, predicated on alleged violations of
California’s meal and rest break, recordkeeping, and timeliness of wage payment laws. Plaintiff
seeks to bring these claims on behalf of a putative “Hourly Employee Class” defined as “[a]ll
persons employed by Defendants and/or any staffing agencies and/or any other third parties in

hourly or non-exempt positions in California during the Relevant Time Period.” (Ex. A  11.)*

! The “Relevant Time Period” is alleged to be from February 19, 2015, to the date of final
judgment. (Ex. A 11.) Plaintiff also seeks to certify various subclasses, including a Meal
Period Subclass, a Rest Period Subclass, a Wage Statement Penalties Subclass, a Waiting Time
Penalties Subclass. (lId.).

-1- NOTICE OF REMOVAL CV
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Additionally, Plaintiff seeks to certify a “UCL Class” defined as “[a]ll Hourly Employee Class
members employed by Defendants in California during the Relevant Time Period.” (Id.)

3. In the First Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that American failed to provide
Plaintiff and the putative class members off-duty meal periods in accordance with the California
Labor Code and the applicable Industrial Welfare Commission (“IWC”) Wage Order. (Ex. A 9
32-33, 38-39.) Plaintiff seeks premium compensation for missed meal periods pursuant to Labor
Code § 226.7, interests, costs, and attorneys’ fees. (Id. 11 44-45.)

4. In the Second Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that American failed to provide
Plaintiff and the putative class members off-duty rest periods in accordance with the California
Labor Code and applicable IWC Wage Order. (Ex. A 152.) Plaintiff seeks premium
compensation for missed rest period pursuant to Labor Code 8 226.7, interest, costs, and
attorneys’ fees. (ld. 1 55-56.)

5. In the Third Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that American failed to pay Plaintiff
and the putative class members regular and overtime wages in accordance with California Labor
Code 88 223, 510, 1196, 1197, and 1198. (Ex. A { 71.) Plaintiff seeks recovery of all unpaid
straight time and overtime wages, interest, statutory costs, and statutory penalties. (Id. § 1 78-79.)

6. In the Fourth Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that American failed to provide
accurate itemized wage statements to Plaintiff and the putative class members. (Ex. A {83.)
Plaintiff seeks penalties pursuant to Labor Code § 226, attorneys’ fees, and costs. (Id. 1 86.)

7. In the Fifth Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that American failed to timely pay all
final wages in accordance with California Labor Code 8§88 201-203. (Ex. A 1 94.) Plaintiff seeks
penalties pursuant to Labor Code 88 203 and 218.6, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. (Id. {1
96, 97.)

8. In the Sixth Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges that American engaged in unfair
business practices by engaging in the alleged violations described in the first through fourth
causes of action. (Ex. A 1108.) Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief and restitution of all money
acquired by American as a result of these allegedly unfair practices according to California

Business & Professions Code § 17200 et seq., as well as attorneys’ fees. (1d. §114-115.)

-2- NOTICE OF REMOVAL CV
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9. This Notice of Removal has been filed within thirty (30) days of service of
American, and, as no other defendant has been named or served, the requirement of 28 U.S.C.
8§ 1446(b) requiring removal within thirty (30) days of service of the first defendant has been

satisfied. Therefore, this Notice of Removal has been timely filed.

BASIS FOR REMOVAL: CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT OF 2005 (“CAFA”)

10.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), which
provides that the United States District Courts have original jurisdiction over any class action: (i)
involving a plaintiff class of 100 or more members, (ii) where at least one member of the plaintiff
class is a citizen of a State different from any defendant, and (iii) in which the matter in
controversy exceeds (in the aggregate) the sum or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and
costs. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A) & (5)(B); see also Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co. v.
Owens, 135 S. Ct. 547, 554 (2014) (explaining that “CAFA’s provisions should be read broadly,
with a strong preference that interstate class actions should be heard in federal court if properly
removed by any defendant.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).2

11.  These three conditions are satisfied here. First, Plaintiff filed this action as a
“class action” within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(1)(b) because Plaintiff pleads that this
civil action should be considered a class action under California law. (Ex. A {1 11.) According to
American’s records, there are approximately 1,379 ramp agents currently working for American
in California. (Declaration of Lisa Magdaleno i/s/o Notice of Removal, dated March 25, 2019
(“Magdaleno Decl.”) 9 2.) The requirement that the class consist of at least 100 members is
therefore satisfied.

12. Second, Plaintiff is a citizen of the state of California. (Ex. A §5.) American is
incorporated in the State of Delaware, with its principal place of business in Fort Worth Texas,

and is therefore for removal purposes a citizen of the State of Delaware and of the State of Texas.

2 American does not waive, and expressly reserves, all arguments that this matter is improper for
both class certification and as a non-class representative action.

-3- NOTICE OF REMOVAL CV
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See Hertz Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 92-93 (2010); Magdaleno Decl. 4. Thus, Plaintiff is a
citizen of a state different from American within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).

13.  Third, the claims asserted by the plaintiff class, aggregated as required by 28
U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2), exceed the necessary sum of $5,000,000 “in controversy” within the
meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2). Although American denies that Plaintiff and/or any putative
class member is entitled to any relief based on the allegations in the Complaint, given the size of
the proposed class, the breadth of the claims alleged and relief sought, and the specific allegations
in the Complaint, the amount put “in controversy” by this litigation is in excess of $10,000,000,
far exceeding the threshold requirement of $5,000,000:

a. Plaintiff’s First and Second Causes of Action allege that American
maintained a policy or practice of denying Plaintiff and the putative class
members off-duty meal and rest periods or premium compensation in lieu
thereof, Compl. 11 38-41; 52-53, and therefore he and the putative class
members are entitled to missed meal and rest period premiums pursuant to
Labor Code 8 226.7 going back four years to February 19, 2015.

b. There are approximately 1,379 individuals currently working for
American as ramp agents in California. (Magdaleno Decl. { 2.) According
to the applicable collective bargaining agreement, the current lowest hourly
rate for ramp agents is $14.18 per hour. (Id. 1 3.) Labor Code § 226.7
provides that if an employer fails to provide a meal or rest period in
accordance with the law, “the employer shall pay the employee one
additional hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for
each workday that the meal or rest or recovery period is not provided.”

Cal. Lab. Code § 226.7(c).

c. Reducing the number of putative class members by approximately 30%

(965) to account for attrition, and assuming each class member was paid at

$14.18 per hour and missed one meal and one rest break each week for the

-4 - NOTICE OF REMOVAL CV
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4 years (or 208 weeks) at issue in this action, the amount in controversy for
Plaintiff’s First and Second Causes of Action is approximately:
I. (14.18 x 208 weeks x 965) + (14.18 x 208 weeks x 965) =
$5,692,419.20.

d. Although American contends that the claims are meritless, and that no
monies are owed, relative to the claims in the Complaint, this calculation
uses low assumptions regarding the putative class members’ regular hourly
rate and the number of missed meal and rest periods per week.

14.  This calculation only values the First and Second Causes of Action and only
considers ramp agents—accordingly, the actual amount in controversy is significantly higher.

15.  In addition, Plaintiff seeks to recover attorney’s fees, which further increases the
alleged amount “in controversy” beyond $5,000,000. (Ex. A 145, 56, 79, 86, 97, 115.); see
Lowdermilk v. U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n, 479 F.3d 994 (9th Cir. 2007) (including attorneys’ fees in
calculating amount in controversy), overruled on other grounds by Standard Fire Ins. Co. v.
Knowles, 133 S. Ct. 1345 (2013); see also Gibson v. Chrysler Corp., 261 F.3d 927 (9th Cir. 2001)
(holding that attorneys’ fees were properly included in the amount in controversy requirement in
a class action); Galt G/S v. JSS Scandinavia, 142 F.3d 1150 (9th Cir. 1998) (including attorneys’
fees in calculating the amount in controversy requirement for traditional diversity jurisdiction).

16.  Thus, based on the reasonable assumptions set forth herein, the potential
compensatory damages, together with the statutory penalties and attorney’s fees, exceed the
$5,000,000 aggregate amount in controversy requirement set forth under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).
Dart Cherokee, 135 S.Ct. at 554 (“a defendant's notice of removal need include only a plausible
allegation that the amount in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional threshold.”).

VENUE

17.  Plaintiff’s state court action was commenced in the Superior Court of the State of
California for the County of Santa Clara and, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 84(a), 1441(a), & 1446(a)
may be removed to this United States District Court for the Northern District of California, which

embraces Santa Clara County within its jurisdiction.

-5- NOTICE OF REMOVAL CV
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CONCLUSION

18. For the reasons discussed herein, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1332(d), 1441(a) &

1446, this state court action may be removed to this Federal District Court.

WHEREFORE, Defendant requests that this action be brought to this Court, and that this

Court exercise its jurisdiction in the premises.

Dated: March 25, 2019 O’MELVENY & MYERS LLP
ROBERT A. SIEGEL
ADAM P. KOHSWEENEY
SUSANNAH K. HOWARD

By:  /s/ Adam P. KohSweeney

Adam P. KohSweeney
Attorneys for Defendant American Airlines,
Inc.

-6- NOTICE OF REMOVAL CV
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SUM-100
S U M M O N S {SOLFDOPRA?ROAUSSTOUgE l?: léYORTE}
(CITACION JUDICIAL} E-FILED

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT: 211972019 5:31 PM
(AVISO AL DEMANDADO): Clerk of Court
AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC,, a Delaware corporation: and DOES | Superior Court of CA,
through 50, inclusive, County of Santa Clara
YOU ARE BEING SUED BY PLAINTIFF: 18CV342788
(LO ESTA DEMANDANDO EL DEMANDANTE): Reviewed By: R. Walker
HASIM A. MOHAMMED, on behalf of himselif, all others similarly Envelope: 2529544
situated,

NOTICE! You have been sued. The court may decide against you without your being heard unless you respand within 30 days. Read the informalion
below,

You have 30 CALENDAR DAYS after this summons and iegal papers are served on you to file a wrilten response al this court and have a copy
served on the plainliff, A letter or phone call will nol protect you, Your writlen response musi be in proper legal form if you wani the cowrt 10 hear your
case. There may be a court form that you can use for your response. You can find these court forms and more information at the California Courts
Online Self-Help Center {(www.courtinfo ca.gov/selfhelp), your county law library, or the courthouse nearast you. If you cannoi pay the {iling fee, ask
the court clerk for a fee wawer form. if you do not file your response on time. you may lose the case by default, and your wages. money. and property
may be taken withou! further waming fiom the court.

There are other iegal requirements. You may want to call an attorney right away. {f you do not know an attorney, you may want 10 call an attomey
referral service. If you cannot afford an attorney, you may be eligibie for free legat services from a nonprofit legal services program. You can locate
these nonprofit groups at the Catifomnia Legal Services Web site (www./lawhelpcalifornia.org), the California Courts Online Self-Help Center
(www.courtinfo.ca.gov/selfhelp), or by contacting your local court of county bar association. NOTE: The coun has a statutory lien for waved fees ang
cosls an any settlement or arbitration award of $10,000 or more in a civil case. The court's hen must be paid before the cournt will dismiss the case.
JAVISO! Lo han demandado. Sino responde deriro de 30 dias, la corte priede decidir en su conira sin escuchar su version. Lea la informacion a
continuacion.

Tiene 30 DIAS DE CALENDARIO despugs de que le entregquen esta cilacién y papeies legales para presenlar una respuesta por escrito en esta
corte y hacer que se entregue una copia al demandante. Una carta o una llamada telefonica no lo protegen. Su respuesta por escrito tiene que estar
en formato iegal correcto st desea que procesen su caso en la corte. Es posible que haya un formulario que usted pueda usar para Su respuesta.
Puede encontrar estos formulanios de la corte y mas informacion en el Cenire de Ayuda de fas Cortes de California fwww sucorte.ca.gov), enla
hiblioteca de leyes de su condado 0 en la corte que le quede mas cerca. Si no puede pagar la cuota de presentacin, pida al secretario de Ia corte
que le dé un formulario de exencidn de pago de cuctas Sino presenta su respuesta a iempo, puede perder el caso por incumplimiento y la corte e
podrd quitar su sueldo. dinero y bienes sin mas advertencia.

Hay otros requisitos legales Es recomendable que Hlame a un abogado inmediatamente. 5i no conoce a un abogado, puede flamar a un servicio de
remision a abogados. Si no puede pagar a un abogado, es posible que cumpia con los requisitos para abtener servicios legales gratunos de un
programa de servicios legales in finec e lucro Puede encontrar estos grupos sin fines de Jucrs en el sitio web de California Legal Services,
{www.lawhelpcalifornia.org), en el Centro de Ayuda de las Cortes de Califorma, faww sucorte.ca.gov) o poniéndose en contacto con fa corte o ef
colegio de abogados focales. AVISO: Por ley la corte tiene derecho a reclamar las cuclas y 105 costos exentos porimponer un gravamen sobre
cuaiquier recuperacion de $10,000 0 mas de valor recibida mediante un acuerdo ¢ una concesion de arbifrafe en un caso de deracho civil. Tiene que
pagar el gravamean dg la conts antes de que la corte pueds desechar el caso.

The name and address of the court is, PN

(€t nombre y diroccién de fa corte es): Downtown Superior Court %'A‘ii‘g@y342788
191 North First Street

San Jose, California 95113

The name, address, and telephone number of pla:ntiif's attorney, or plamtiff without an atiorney, is:
(El nombre, Ia direccin y e numero de teléfono del abogado dei demandanta, o del demandants que no tiene abogado. es)

Shaun Setareh, Esq.. 315 South Beverly Drive, Suite 315, Beverly Hills, California 90212, (310) 888-7771]

DATE: . Clerk, by . Deputy
(Fecha) 2/19/2019 5:31 PMm Clerk of Court (Secretario) R. Walker (Acfunto)
(Far proof of service of this summons, use Proof of Service of Summons (form POS-010).)

(Para prueba de entrega de esia citatién use el formulario Proof of Service of Summons, (POS-010))

NOTICE TO THE PERSON SERVED: You are served

1 | as anindividual defendant.

2. ] as the person sued under the fictitous name of (specify):

3. ‘%l. on behalt of (specify): A ” [ p/ 4 Oﬂ U A / M—//L/é_f / A -

under [__J cCP416.10 {corporation) CCP 416.60 (m:nor)
[C] ccCP 416.20 (defunct corporation) 1:} CCP 416.70 (conservatee)
(] ccCP 416.40 (association or partnership} [ ] CCP 416.90 (authorized person)

[ other (specify):
4 [ by personal delivery on (dats):

Page ¥ of 1
Form Agopiada (or Mandaiory Jsa Code of Crat Procedure 5§ 412 20, 465
Juthcasl Councl of Calrlorrea SUMMONS W SOurtiiD ca gov

SUM-100 [Rav Juky 3, 2008,
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Shaun Setarel (SBN 204514)
shaun@setarehlaw.com

William M. Pao (SBN 219846)
william{@setarchlaw.com

Lilit Ter-Astvatsatryan (SBN 320389)
Lili@setarehlaw.com

SETAREH LAW GROUP

315 South Beverly Drive, Suite 315

Beverly Hills, California 90212

Telephone (310) 888-7771

Facsimile (310) 888-0109

Attorneys for Plaintiff
HASIM A, MOHAMMED

E-FILED

2/19/2019 5:31 PM
Clerk of Court

Superior Court of CA,
County of Santa Clara
19CV342788

Reviewed By: R. Walker

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOR THEE COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA

UNLIMITED JURISDICTION

HASIM A. MOHAMMELD, on behalf of
himself, all others similarly situated,

Plaintiff.
VS,

AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC., a Delaware
corporation; and DOES 1 through 50,
inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No.

19CV342788

CLASS ACTION

COMPLAINT

R

2.

~
.

Failure to Provide Meal Periods (Lab. Code
§§ 204, 223.226.7. 512 and 1198);

Failure to Provide Rest Periods (Lab. Code
§§ 204, 223, 226.7 and 1198);

Failure 1o Pay Hourly Wages (Lab. Code §§
223,510, 1194, 1194.2, 1197, 1997.1 and
1198);

Failure 1o IProvide Accurate Written Wage
Siatements (Lab. Code §§ 226(a));

Failure to Timely Pay All Final Wages
(Lab. Code §§ 201, 202 and 203);

Unfair Competition (Bus. & Prof. Code §§
17200 et seq.);

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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COMES NOW, Plaintiff HASIM A. MOHAMMED (*Plaintif”), on behalf of himself. all
others similarly situated, complains and alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Plainiiff brings this class action against Defendant AMERICAN AIRLINES. INC., a
Delaware corporation, and DOES 1 through 30, inclusive (collectively referred to as “Defendants™)
for alleged violations of the Labor Code and Business and Professions Code. As set forth below.
Plaintiff alleges that Defendants have:

(n failed to provide him and all other similarly situated individuals with meal
periods:

(2) failed to provide them with rest periods;

3) failed to pay them premium wages for missed meal and/or rest periods;

(4) failed to provide them with accurate written wage statements; and

(3) failed to pay them all of their final wages following separation of
cmployment.

Based on these alleged Labor Code violations. Plaintiff now brings this class action 1o
recover unpaid wages, restitution and related relief on behalf of himself, all others similarly

situated.

JURISDICTON AND VENUE

2. This Court has subjcct matter jurisdiction 10 hear this case because the monetary
damages and restitution sought by Plaintiff from Defendants conduct exceeds the minimal
jurisdiction of the Superior Court of the State of California.

3 Venue is proper in the County of Santa Clara pursuant 1o Code of Civil Procedurc
sections 395{a} and 395.5 in that liabilitv arose this county because at least some of the transactions
that are the subject matter of this Complaint occurred thercin and/or each defendant is found.
maintains offices, transacts business and/or has an agent therein.

4. Venue is proper in Santa Clara County because Defendants’ principal place of
business is in Texas, is incorporated under the laws of Delawarc. does business in Santa Clara

County, and has not registered a California place of business with the California Secretary of Staie.

1
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As such, venue is proper in any county in California.
PARTIES

5. Plaintiff HASIM A. MOHAMMED is, and at all relevant times mentioned herein, an
individual residing in the State of California,

6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges that Defendant
AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC. is, and at ali relevant times mentioned herein. a Delaware
corporation doing business in the State of California.

7. Plaintiff is ignorant ol the true names and capacities of the defendants sued herein as
DOES 1 through 30, inclusive, and therefore sues these defendanis by such fictitious names.
Plaintiff will amend this Complaint to ailege the true names and capacities of the DOE defendants
when ascertained. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges that each of the
fictitiously named defendants are responsible in some manner for the occurrences, acts and
omissions alleged herein and that Plaintiff™s alleged damages were proximately caused by these
defendants, and each of them. Plaintiff will amend this complaint to allege both the true names and
capacities of the DOE defendants when ascertained.

8. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges that, at all refevant times
mentioned herein, some or all of the defendants were the representatives, agents, employees,
partners, directors, associates, joint venturers, principals or co-participants of some or all of the
other defendants, and in doing the things alleged hercin, were acting within the course and scope of
such relationship and with the full knowledge. consent and ratitication by such other defendants.

9. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereupon alleges that, at all relevant times
mentioned herein, some of the defendants pursued a common course of conduct. acted in concert
and conspired with one another. and aided and abeuied one another to accomplish the occurrences,
acts and omissions alleged herein.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

10. This action has been brought and may be maintained as a class action pursuant to
Code of Civil Procedure section 382 because there is a well-defined community of interest among

the persons who comprise the readily ascertainable classes defined below and because Plaintiff is

2

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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unaware of any difficulties likely to be encountered in managing this case as a class action.

11 Relevant Time Period: The relevant time period is defined as the time period

beginning four years prior to the filing of this action until judgment is entered.

Hourly Emplovee Class: All persons emploved by Defendants and/or any staffing agencies
and/or any other third parties in hourly or non-exempt positions in California during the
Relevant Time Period.

Meal Period Sub-Class: All Hourty Emplovee Class members who worked in a
shift in excess of five hours during the Retevant Time Period.

Rest Period Sub-Class: All Hourly Employee Class members who worked a shift
of at Jeast threc and one-half (3.3) hours during the Relevant Time Period.

Wage Statement Penalties Sub-Class: All Hourly Employee Class members
employed by Defendants in Califorma during the period beginning one year before
the filing of this action and ending when final judgment is entered.

Waiting Time Penalties Sub-Class: All Hourly Employee Class members who
separated from their employment with Defendants during the period beginning three
years before the filing of this action and ending when final judgment is entered.

UCL Class: All Hourly Employee Class members employed by Defendants in California
during the Relevant Time Period.

12. Reservation of Rights: Pursuant to Rule of Court 3.763(b). Plaintiff reserves the

right to amend or modifv the class definitions with greater specificity. by further division into sub-
classes and/or bv limitation to particular issues.

13. Numerosity: The class members are so numerous that the individual joinder of each
individual class member is impractical. While Plaintitfl does not currently know the exact number
of class members, Plaintiff is informed and believes. and thereupon alleges that the actual humber
exceeds the minimum required for numerosity under California law.

14.  Commenality and Predominance: Common questions of law and fact exist as to

all class members and predominate over any questions which affect only individual class members.
These common questions include, but are not limited to:
A, Whether Defendants maintained a policy or practice of failing to provide
employees with their meal periods;
B. Whether Defendants maintained a policy or practice of failing to provide

employees with their rest periods:

~

)
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




[§%]

10
11
12
3
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

22
23
24
25
26
27

Case 5:19-cv-01540 Document 1-1 Filed 03/25/19 Page 7 of 28

C. Whether Defendants {ailed 1o pay premium wages to class members when
they have not been provided with required meal and/or rest periods;

D. Whether Defendants failed to provide class members with accurate written
wage statements as a result of providing them with written wage statements
with inaccurate entries for. among other things. amounts of gross and net
wages, and 1otal hours worked;

E. Whether Defendants applied policies or practices that result in late and/or
incomplete final wage payvments;

F. Whether Defendants are liable to class members for waiting time penalties

under Labor Code section 203;

a

Whether class members are entitled to restitution of money or property that
Defendants may have acquired from them through unfair competition;

15. Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the other class members® claims.

Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that Defendants have a policy or practice of

failing to comply with the Labor Code and Business and Professions Code as alleged in this
Complaint.

16. Adcguacy of Class Representative: Plaintiff is an adequate class representative in

that he has no interests that are adverse to. or otherwise conflict with, the interests of absent class
members and is dedicated to vigorously prosecuting this action on their behalf. Plaintiff will fairly
and adequately represent and protect the interests of the other class members.

17.  Adequacy of Class Counsel: Plaintiff’s counsel are adequate class counsel in that

they have no known conflicts of interest with Plaintiff or absent class members. are experienced in
wage and hour class action litigation, and are dedicated 10 vigorously prosecuting this action on
behalf of Plaintiff and absent class members.

18. Superiority: A class action is vastly superior to other avaitable means for fair and
efficient adjudication of the class members® claims and would be beneficial to the parties and the

Court. Class action treatment will allow a number of similarly situated persons to simultaneously

and efficiently prosecute their common claims in a single forum without the unnecessary
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duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual actions would entail. In addition. the
monetary amounts due to many individual class members are likely 1o be relatively small and would
thus make 1 difficult, if not impossible, for individual class members to both seek and obtain relief.
Moreover, a class action will serve an important public interest by permitting class members to
effectively pursue the recovery of monies owed 1o them. Further, a class action will prevent the
potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments inherent in individual litigation.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

19, Plaintiff worked for Defendants as a non-exempt. hourly employee from
approximately fanuary 17, 2000 through February 28, 2018.

Meal Periods and Auto-Deduct

20. On many occasions, Plaintiff and the putative class members were not provided
with meal periods of at least thirty (30) minutes for each five (5) hour work period duc 1o (1)
Defendants’ policy of not scheduling each meal period as part of each work shift; (2) chronically
understaffing each work shift with not cnough workers; (3) imposing so much work on each

employee such that it made it unlikely that an emplovee would be able to take their breaks if they

J{ wanted to finish their work on time; and (4) no formal written mcal and rest period policy that

encouraged employees to take their meal and rest periods.

21, Plaintiff and the putative class members were provided meal periods 10 the extent
that there were otherwise not occupied with their job duties. In other words. when a plane arrived,
Plaintiff and the putative class were required to interrupt their meal periods and to immediately
perform their assigned job duties.

22 Moreover, Plaintiff and the putative class were not instructed to nor required to clock
out for their meal periods as Defendants had a policy of automatically deducting one hour from
their hours worked. This is further evidenced by the fact that Plaintiff and the putative class werc
scheduled to work nine hours and in order to avoid having to pay overtime, an hour was
automatically deducted by Defendants for their pu-rporled meal periods. even though Plaintiff and

the putative class seldomly, if even ever, were provided with a one-hour uninterrupted, duty-frec

meal period.

J
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23. As a result of Defendants’ policy, Plaintiff and the putative class were reguiarly not
provided with uninterrupted meal periods of at least thirly (30) minutes for each five (3) hours
worked due to complying with Defendants’ productivity requirements that required Plaintiff and
the putative class 10 work through their meal periods in order to complete their assignments on
time.

Missed Rest Periods

24, Plaintiff and the putative class members were not provided with rest pertods of at
least ten (10) minutes for each four (4) hour work period. or major fraction thereof. due 1o (1)
Defendants’ policy of not scheduling each rest period as part of each work shift; (2) chronically
understaffing each work shift with not enough workers; (3) imposing so much work on each
empioyee such that it made it unlikely that an employee would be able to take their breaks if they
wanted to finish their work on time; and (4) no formal written meal and rest period policy that
encouraged employees to take their meal and rest periods.

25, Plainiiff and the putative class members were provided resi periods 10 the extent
that there were otherwise not occupied with their job duiies. In other words, when a plane arrived,
Plaintitf and the putative class were required to interrupi their meal periods and to immediately
perform their assigned job duties.

26. As a result of Defendants’ policy. Plaintiff and the putative class were regularly not
provided with uninterrupted rest periods of at least ten (10) minutes for each four (4) hours worked
due to complying with Defendants’ produciivity requirements that required Plaintiff and the
putative class to work through their rest periods in order to complete their assignments on time.

Wagoe Statements

27. Plaintiff and the putative class were not provided with accurate wage statements as
mandated by law pursuant to Labor Code section 226.
28.  Defendants failed 10 comply with Labor Code section 226(a)(1) as “gross wages
earned” were not accurately reflected in that:
a. all hours worked, including overtime, were not included and so gross wages were

noi accurate;
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b. any and all meal and/or resi period premiums were not paid and so gross wages

were not accurate,
29, Defendants failed io comply with Labor Code section 226(a)(5) as “net wages
eamed” were not accurately reflected in that:

a. all hours worked, including overtimme, were not included and so net wages earned
were nat accurale;

b. any and all meal and/or rest period premiium wages were not included and so net
wages eamed were not accurate.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

FAILURE TO PROVIDE MEAL PERIODS
(Lab. Cede §§ 004, 223, 226.7, 512 and 1198)
(Plaintiff and Meal Period Sub-Class)

30. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs of the Complaint as if
fully alleged herein.

31. Azt all relevant times, Plaintiff and the Meal Period Sub-Class members have been
non-exempt emplovees of Defendant entitled 1o the full meal period protections of both the Labor
Code and the applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Order. |

32. Labor Code section 512 and Section 11 of the applicable Industrial Welfare
Commission Wage Order impose an affirmative obligation on employers to provide non-exempt
employees with uninterrupted, duty-free meal periods of at lcast thirty minutes for each work period
of five hours, and to provide them with two uninterrupted. duty-free meal periods of at least thirty
minutes for cach work period of ten hours.

33 Labor Code section 226.7 and Section 11 of the applicable industrial Welfare
Commission Wage Order (“Wage Order”) both prohibit employers from requiring employces to
work during required meal periods and require employers to pay non-exempt employees an hour of
premium wages on ¢ach workday that the employee is not provided with the required meal period.

34. Compensation for missed meal periods constitutes wages within the meaning of

[Labor Code section 200.
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35. Labor Code section 1198 makes it unlawful to employ a person under conditions that
violate the applicable Wage Order.

36.  Section 1] of the applicable Wage Order states:

“No employer shall employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours
without a meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that when a work period of
not more than six (6) hours will complete the day’s work the meal period may be
waived by mutual consent of the employer and employee. Unless the employee is
relieved of all duty during a 30 minute meal period, the meal period shall be
considered an "on duty’ meal period and counted as time worked. An ‘on duty’ meal
period shall be permitted only when the nature of the work prevents an employee
from being relieved of all duty and when by written agreement between the parties
an on-the-job paid meal period is agreed to. The written agreement shall state that
the emplayee may, in writing, revoke the agreement at any time.”

37. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was not subject to a valid on-duty meal period
agreement. Plaintiff is informed and believes that. at all relevant times, Meal Period Sub-Class
members were not subject to valid on-duty meal period agreements with Defendants.

38. Plaintiff alleges that, at all relevam times during the applicable limiiations period,
Defendants maintained a policy or practice of not providing Plaintiff and members of the Meal
Period Sub-Class with uninterrupted. duty-frec meal periods for at least thirty (30) minutes for
cach five (5) hour work period, as required by Labor Code sccrion 512 ad the applicable Wage
Order.

39. Plaintiff alleges that, at all relevant times during the applicable limitations period,
Defendants maintained a policy or practice of failing to pay premium wages to Meal Period Sub-
Class members when they worked five (3) hours without clocking out for any meal period.

40.  Plainuff alleges that, at all relevant times during the applicable limitations period.
Defendants maintained a policy or practice of automatically deducting one hour for a meal period
from the paychecks of Meal Period Sub-Class members on each day they worked, regardless of
whether or not they were able to take an uninterrupted, dutv-free meal period.

41, Plaintiff alleges that. at all relevant times during the applicable limitations period.
Defendants maintained a policy or practice of not providing Plaintiff and members of the Meal

Period Sub-Class with a sccond meal period when they worked shifts of ten or more hours and

failed to pay them premium wages as required by Labor Code 512 and the applicable Wage Order.
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432, Morcover, Defendants writien policies do noi provide that employees must take their
first meal period before the end of the fifth hour of work, that they are entitled 10 a second meal
period if they work a shift of over ten hours, or that the second meal period must commence before
the end of the tenth hour of work, unless waived.

43,  Atall relevant times. Defendanis failed to pay Plaintiff and the Meal Period Sub-
Class members additional premium wages, and/or were not paid premium wages at the employees’
regular rates of pay when required meal periods were not provided.

44. Pursuant to Labor Code section 204, 218.6 and 226.7, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself
and the Meal Period Sub-Class members, seek to recover unpaid premium wages. interest thereon,
and costs of suit.

43, Pursuant to Labor Code section 1194, Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, the

substanltial benefit doctrine, and/or the common fund doctrine, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and

‘the Meal Period Sub-Class members, seck to recover reasonable attorneys” fees.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

FAILURE TO PROVIDE REST PERIODS
(Lab. Code §§ 204, 223, 226.7 and 1198)
(Plaintiff and Rest Period Sub-Class)

46.  Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs of the Compiaint as if fully alleged
herein.

47, At all relevant times, Plaintift and the Rest Period Sub-Class members have been
non-exerﬁpt employees of Defendants entitled to the full rest period protections of both the Labor
Code and the applicabie Wage Order.

48. Section 12 of the applicable Wage Order imposes an affirmative obligation on
employers to permit and authorize emplovees to 1ake required rest periods at a rate of no less than
ten minutes of net rest time for each four hour work period, or major fraction thereof, that must be
in the middle of each work period insofér as practicabie.

49. Labor Code section 226.7 and Section 12 of the applicable Wage Order both prohibit

employers from requiring employees to work during required rest periods and require employers to
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pay non-exempt employees an hour of premium wages at the employees’ regular rates of pay, on
each workday that the employee is not provided with the required rest period(s).

50.  Compensation for missed rest periods constitutes wages within the meaning of Labor
Code section 200.

5t.  Labor Code section 1198 makes it unlawful to employ a person under conditions that
violate the Wage Order.

52. Plaintiff alleges that, at all relevant times during the applicable limitations period,
Defendanis maintained a policy or practicc of not providing members of the Rest Period Sub-Class
with net rest peribd of at least ten minutes for each four hour work period, or major fraciion thereof,
as required by the applicable Wage Order.

53.  Atall relevant times, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the Rest Period Sub-
Class members additional premium wages when required rest periods were not provided.

54, Specifically, Defendants writien policies do not provide that employees may take a
rest period for cach four hours worked, or major fraction thereof, and that rest periods should be
taken in the middle of each work period insofar as practicable.

55. Pursuant to Labor Code section 204, 218.6 and 226.7. Plamtiff, on behalf of himself
and Rest Period Sub-Class members, seek to recover unpaid premium wages, interest thereon, and
costs of suit.

56. Pursuant to Labor Code section 1194, Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, the
substantial henefit doctrine, and/or the common fund doctrine, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and
Rest Period Sub-Class members, seek to recover reasonable attorneys’ {ees.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

FAILURE TO PAY HOURLY AND OVERTIME WAGES
(Lab. Code §§ 223, 510, 1194, 1197 and 1198)

(Plaintiff and Hourlvy Employee Class)

57. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully alleged
herein.
58. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and Hourly Employee Class members are or have
10

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




[\

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

24

25

26

28

Case 5:19-cv-01540 Document 1-1 Filed 03/25/19 Page 14 of 28

been non-exempt employees of Defendants entitled 1o the full protections of the Labor Code and the
applicable Wage Order.

59. Section 2 of the applicable Wage Order defines “hours worked™ as “the time during
which an employee is subject to the control of the employer. and includes all the time the employee
is suffered or permitted to work. whether or not required o do so0.”

60. Section 4 of the applicable Wage Order requires an employer to pay non-exempi
employees at least the minimum wage set forth therein for all hours worked. which consist of all
hours that an employer has actual or constructive knowledge that employees are working.

61. Labor Code section 1194 invalidates any agreement between an employer and an
employee to work for less than the minimum or overtime wage required under the applicable Wage
Order.

62. Labor Code section 1194.2 entitles non-exempt emplovees to recover Hquidated
damages in amounts equal to the amounts of unpaid minimum wages and interest thereon in
addition to the underlying unpaid minimum wages and interest thereon.

63. Labor Code section 1197 makes it unlawful for an emplover to pay an employee less
than the minimum wage required under the applicable Wage Order for all hours worked during a
payroll period.

64. Labor Codc section 11971 provides that it is unlawful for any employer or any other
person acting either individually or as an officer, agent or employee of another person, to pay an
employee, or cause an employee to be paid, less than the applicable minimum wage.

65.  Labor Code section 1198 makes it unlawful for employers to employ employees
under conditions that violate the applicable Wage Order.

66. Labor Code section 204 requires emplovers to pay non-exempt employees their
earned wages for the normal work period at least twice during each calendar month on days the
employer designates in advance and to pay non-exempt emplovees their earned wages for labor
performed in excess of the normal work period by no later than the nexi regular payday.

67. Labor Code section 223 makes it unlawful for employers o pay their employees

lower wages than required by contract or statute while purporting 1o pay them legal wages.
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68. Labor Code section 510 and Section 3 of the applicable Wage Order require
employees (0 pay non-exempt employees overtime wages ol no less than one and one-half times
their respective regular rates of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight hours in one workday, all
hours worked in excess of forty hours in one workweek, and/or for the first eight hours worked on
the seventh consecutive day of one workweek.

69.  Labor Code section 510 and Section 3 of the applicable Wage Order also require
employers to pay non-exempt employees overtime wages of no less than two times their respective
regular rates of pay for all hours worked in excess of twelve hours in one workday and for all hours
worked in excess of eight hours on a seventh consecutive workday during the workweek.

70.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that, at all relevant times, Defendants have applied
centrally devised policies and practices to him and Hourly Employee Class members with respect
to working conditions. and compensation arrangements,

71. At all relevant times, Defendants failed to pay hourly wages to Plaintiff and Hourly
Employee Class members for all time worked, including but not limited 10, overtime hours at
statutory and/or agreed rates.

72 At all relevant times during the applicable limitations period, Defendants maintained
a policy or practice of automatically deducting one hour from Plaintiff’s timecard on every workday
for a meal period, regardless of whether or not Plaintiff was provided with a meal period.

73. Plainti[T is informed and believes that, at all relevant times during the applicable
limitations period, Defendants maintained a policy or practice of automatically deducting one hour
from Hourly Employee Class members’ timecard on every workday for a meal period, regardless
of whether or not Hourly Employee Class members were provided with a meal period.

74. Asa feSult of Defendams’ policy or practice of automatically deducting one hour
from employees’ timecards for everv workday for a meal period, Plaimiff and Hourly Employce
Class members were required to perform off-the-clock work that Defendants either knew or should
have known they were \iforking.

75.  Atall relevant times, Defendants failed to pay hourly wages to Plaintiff for all time

worked, including but not limited o, overtime wages at statutory and/or agreed rates by suffering or
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permitting him to work during unpaid meal periods and/or failing to properly pay Plaintiff for ail
overtime hours worked.

76. Plaintiff 1s informed and believes that, at all relevant times during the applicable
limitations period. Defendants maintained a policy or practice of not paving hourly wages 10
Hourly Employee Class members for all time worked, including but not limited to, overtime hours
at statutory and/or agreed rates by suffering or permitting them to work during unpaid meal periods.

77. As aresult of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and Hourly Employec Class
members have suffered damages in an amount. subject to proof. to the extent they were not paid the
full amount of wages earned during each pay period during the applicable limitations period,
inctuding overtime wages.

78. Pursuant to Labor Code seciions 204, 218.6. 223. 510, 1194 and 1194.2, Plaintiff. on
behalf of himself and Hourly Emplovee Class members. seek 1o recover unpatid straight time and
overtime wages. interest thercon and costs of suit.

79. Pursuant to Labor Code section 1194, Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, the
substantial benefit doctrine, and/or the common fund docirine, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and
Hourly Employee Class members, seek Lo recover reasonable attorneys’ fees.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

FAILURE TO PROVIDE ACCURATE WRITTEN WAGE STATEMENTS
(Lah. Code § 226)
(Plaintiff and Wage Statement Penalties Sub-Class)
80.  Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully alleged
herein, |
81.  Labor Code section 226(a) states:

“An cmployer, semimonthly or at the time of each payment of wages, shall furnish o
his or him employee, either as a detachable part of the check, draft, or voucher
paying the emplovee’s wagcs. or separately it wages are paid by personal check or
cash, an accurate itemized statement in writing showing (1) gross wages earned, (2)
total hours worked by the employee. except as provided in subdivision (§), {3) the
number of piece-rate units earned and anv applicable piece raie if the employee is
paid on a piece-rate basis. (4) all deductions. provided that all deductions made on
written orders of the employee may be aggregated and shown as one item, (5) net
wages earned, (6) the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid.

15
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(7) the name of the employee and only the last four digits of his or him social
security number or an employee identification number other than a social security
number, (8) the name and address of the legal entity that is the employer and, if the
employer is a farm labor contractor, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 1682,
the name and address of the legal entity that secured the services of the employer,
and (9) all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the
corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee and,
beginning July 1, 2013, if the employer is a temporary services employer as defined
in Section 201.3, the rate of pay and the total hours worked for each temporary
services assignment. The deductions made from payment of wages shall be recorded
in ink or other indelible form, properly dated, showing the month. day, and year, and
a copy of the statement and the record of the deductions shall be kept on file by the
emplover for at least three vears at the place of employment or at a central location
within the State of California. For purposes of this subdivision, ‘copy’ includes a
duplicate of the itemized statement provided to an employee or a compuier-generated
record that accurately shows all of the information required by this subdivision.™

82. The Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (*DLSE") has sought to harmonize
the “detachable part of the check™ provision and the “accurate itemized statement in writing”
provision of Labor Code section 226(a) by allowing for electronic wage statements so long as each

employee retains the right to elect to receive a written paper stub or record and that those who are

provided with electronic wage statemenis retain the ability to easily access the information and

convert the electronic statements into hard copies at no expense to the emplovee. (DLSE Opinion

Letter July 6, 2006).

83.  Plaintift is informed and believes that, at all relevant times during the applicable
limitations period. Defendants have failed to provide Wage Statement Penalties Sub-Class
members with written wage stalements as described above.

84. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendants’ failure to provide him and Wage
Statement Penalties Sub-Class members with accurate writien wage statements were intentional in
that Defendants have the ability 1o provide them with accurate wage statements but have
intentionally provided them with written wage statements that Defendants have known do not
comply with Labor Code section 226(a).

85. Plaintiff and Wage Statement Penalties Sub-Class members have sutffered injuries,
in that Defendants have violated their legal rights to receive accurate wage statements and have
misled them about their actual rates of pay and wages earncd. In addition, inaccurate information

on their wage statements have prevented immediate challenges 1o Defendants™ unlawful pay
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practices, has required discovery and mathematical computations to determine the amount of wages
owed, has caused difficulty and expense in attempting to reconstruct time and pay records, and/or
has led to the submission of inaccurate information about wages and deductions to federal and state
government agéncies.

86.  Pursuant to Labor Code section 226{e). Plaintiff. on behalf of himself and Wage

Statement Penalties Sub-Class members, seek the greater of actual damages or $50.00 for the

initial pay period in which a violation of Labor Code section 226(a) occurred, and $100.00 for each

subsequent pay period in which a violation of Labor Code section 226(a) occurred. not to exceed an

aggregate penalty of $4000.00 per class member, as well as awards of reasonable attorneys’ fees

and costs.
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
FAILURE TO TIMELY PAY ALL FINAL WAGES
(Lab. Code §§ 201-203)
(Plaintiff and Waiting Time Penalties Sub-Class)

87. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully alleged
herein.

88. At all relevant times, Plainuff and Waiting Time Penalties Sub-Class members

have been entitled, upon the end of their employment with Defendants. to timely payment of all
wages earned and unpaid before termination or resignation.

89. At all relevant times, pursuant to Labor Code section 201, employces who have been
discharged have becn entitled to payment of all final wages immediately upon termination.

90. Atall re.levant times, pursuant 10 Labor Code section 202. emplovees who have
resigned afler giving at least seventy-two (72) hours notice of resignation have been entitled to
payment of ali final wages at the time of resignation.

91.  Atall relevant times, pursuant 1o Labor Code section 202. employees‘ who have
resigned afier giving less than seventy-two (72} hours noticc‘ of resignation halve been entitled to
payment of all final wages within seventy-two (72) hours of giving notice of resignation.

92. During the applicable liniitations period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintift all of him
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final wages in accordance with the Labor Code by failing to timely pay him all of him final wages.

93. Plaintiff is informed and believes that, at all relevant time during the applicable
limitations period, Defendants have failed to timely pay Waiting Time Penalties Sub-Class
members all of their final wages in accordance with the Labor Code.

94, Plaintiff is informed and believes that, at all relevant times during the applicable
limitations period, Defendams have maintained a policy or practice of paying Waiting Time
Pcnalties Sub-Class members their final wages without regard to the requirements of Labor Code
sections 201 or 202 by failing to timely pay them all final wages.

95.  Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereupon alleges that Defendants’ failure o
timely pay all final wages to him and Waiting Time Penalties Sub-Class members have been
willful in that Defendants have the ability to pay final wages in accordance with Labor Code
sections 201 and/or 202 but have intentionally adopied policies or practices that are incompatible
with those requirements.

96. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 203 and 218.6, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and
Waiting Time Penalties Sub-Class members, seek waiting time penalties from the dates that their
finai wages have first become due until paid, up to a maximum of thirty days. and interest thereon.

97. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.3, the substantial benefit doctrine
and/or the common fund doctrine, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and Waiting Time Pcnalties Sub-
Class members, seek awards of reasonable attorneys’ fecs and costs.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

UNFAIR COMPETITION
(Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 ¢f segq.)
(Plaintitf and UCL Class)
98. Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully alleged
herein.
99. Business and Professions Code section 17200 defines “unfair competition” 1o
include any unlawful business practice.

100. Business and Professions Code section 17203-17204 allow a person who has lost
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money or property as a resuit of unfair competition to bring a class action in accordance with Code
of Civil Procedure section 382 to recover money or property that may have been acquired from
similarly situated persons by means of unfair competition,

101.  California taw requires employers to pay hourly, non-exempt employees for all hours
they are permitted or suffered to work, including hours that the employer knows or reasonable
should know that employees have worked.

102, Plaintiff and the UCL Class members re-alleges and incorporates the FIRST.
SECOND and THIRD causes of action herein.

103.  Plaintiff lost mmoney or property as a result of the aforementioned unfair competition.

104.  Defendants have or may have acquired money by means of unfair competition.

105.  Piaintiff is informed and belicves and thereupon alleges that by committing the
Labor Code violations described in this Complaint, Defendants violated Labor Code sections 213,
216,225, 226.6, 354, 408, 553, 1175, 1199, which make it 2 misdemeanor to commit the Labor
Code violations alleged herein.

106. Defendants have committed criminal conduct through their policies and practices of.
inter alia, failing to comport with their affirmative obligations as an employer 10 provide non-
exempt employees with uninterrupted, duty-free meal periods of at least thirty minutes for each
work period of five or more hours, by failing to provide non-exempt employees with a ten-minute
rest period for every four hours worked or major fraction thercof, and by failing to pay non-exempt
employees for all hours worked.

107. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and UCL Class members have been non-exempt
employees and entitled to the full protections of both the Labor Code and the applicable Wage
Order.

108. Defendants’ unlawful conduct as alleged in this Complaint amounts to and
constitutes unfair competition within the meaning of Business and Professions Code section 17200
et seq. Business and Professions Code sections 17200 er seq. protects against unfair competition
and allows a pcrson who has suffered an injury-in-fact and has lost money or property as a result of

an unfair, unlawful or fraudulent business practice to seck restitution on him own behalf and on
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behalf of similarty situated persons in a class action proceeding,

109.  As a result of Defendants® violations of the Labor Code during the applicable
limitations period, Plaintiff has suffered an injury-in-fact and has lost money or property in the form
of earned wages. Specifically, Plaintiff has lost money or property as a result of Defendants’
cor}duct_

110.  Plaimiff is informed and believes that other similarly situated persons have been
subject to the same unlawful policies or practices of Defendants.

ttl. Duc to the unfair and unlawful business practices in violation of the lLabor Caode.
Defendants have gained a competitive advantage over other comparable companies doing business
in the State of California that comply with their legal obligations.

112, Califorma’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL™) permits civil recovery and injunctive
for *any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice,” including if a practice or act
violates or is considered unlawful under any other state or federal law.

113, Accordingly. pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code sections 17200 and 17203, Plaintiffs
request the issuance of temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief enjoining
Defendants. and each of them, and their agents and employees, from further violations of the Labor
Code and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders; and upon a final hearing seek
an order permanently enjoining Defendants, and each of them, and their respective agents and

employees, from further violations of the Labor Code and applicable Industrial Welfare

-Comumission Wage Orders.

114.  Pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 17203, Plainuff, on behalf of
himself and UCL. Class members, seek declaratory relief and restitution of all monies rightfully
belonging to them that Defendants did not pay them or otherwise retained by means of its unlawful
and unfair business practices.

115, Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, the substantial benefit doctrine
and/or the common fund doctrine, Plaintiff and UCL Class members are entitled to recover
reasonable attorneys’ fees in connection with their unfair competition claims.

"
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself, all others similarly situated, prays for relief

and judgment against Defendants as follows:

(1) An order that the action be certified as a class action;
(2) An order that Plaintiff be appointed class representative;
(3) An order that counsel for Plaintiff be appointed class counsel;
{(4) ©  Unpaid wages;
{5) Aciual damages;
(6) L-i_quidated damagces;
(7 Restitution;
(8) Declaratory relief}
(9 Pre-judgment interest;
(10)  Siatutory penaliies;
{iI1) Costs of suif;
{12) Reasonable attorneys’ fees; and
(13)  Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
‘ DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff, on behalf of himself, all other similarly situated, hereby demands a jury trial on all
1ssues so triable.
DATED: February 19, 2019 SETAREH LAW GROUP
SHAUN SETAREH
Attornevs for Plaintiff
HASIM A. MOHAMMED
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Medical Malpractice (45)

Medical Malpractice—
Physicians & Surgeons

Other Professtonal Healin Care
Malpractice

Other PUPDAWD (23)

Premises Liability (e.g.. slip
and fall}

intentional Beday InjuryPOAND
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Other Real Property (e.q., quiet tilie) (26)
Wi